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Britain holds a fascinating variety of culture and landscape within a relatively small area. Yorkshire has its own stereotype: blunt-speaking, cautious with money, industrious and stubbornly independent. Sociable and friendly with one another but reserved at first with strangers. Traces of the Brigantes tribe linger on in the Arthur Scargill type. England’s prime county for brass bands. In TV programmes the Yorkshire accent epitomises the voice of hard common sense and down to earth advice. 


Heckmondwike, Brighouse and Pontefract hardly rank with Heraklion, Berlin and Prague as tourist destinations, yet they hold their own modest interest. The availability of millstone grit gives the townscapes a stately air, especially in Bradford, Halifax, Huddersfield and Wakefield.

It was the little town of Morley, near Leeds, however, which provoked my exercise in “religious archaeology.” Morley is one of those unremarkable places passed by a thousand times on the M62 motorway, yet rarely visited. 

The tall smoke-blackened steeple of St Mary’s-in-the-Wood first attracted attention. Its tip was missing. It looked like an archetypal Anglican parish church - a Victorian rebuild. Surprisingly, the notice board declared allegiance to the United Reformed Church. 


The wrought iron gates were unlocked. An uphill path led through a graveyard, overgrown with nettles, populated with prosperous tombs of nineteenth-century millowners. Something was very odd – the church’s tall lancet windows are filled not with glass, or – God preserve us from Popery - stained glass, but covered with stamped hardboard, in Early English anti-vandal style. It must be very dark inside.

The splendid Decorated east window with rose tracery was decked out in plyboard. A broad west front, with two side doors and a double central nave door, spoke of erstwhile pride and commitment. In the grounds is a small mausoleum to the Scatcherd family entered beneath an ogee arch.


Grandeur disused? The church is frequented only in summer for the Sunday 10.30 am service. For all other liturgies, an arrow points to the church hall, 90 metres along the road.  

The local history proved intriguing. The Wapentake of Morley is recorded in the Domesday Book of 1086. In the time of King Alfred the Great it extended from Castleford to the Lancashire border. 


In 1650 when the Puritans had executed King Charles I, Oliver Cromwell’s Commonwealth turned the nation Presbyterian. St Mary’s Morley’s was granted to local Presbyterians on a 500 year lease, which is still running. 


It is the only example in England and Wales of an ancient Episcopal (i.e. Anglican) place of worship  which did not return to the Established Church at the restoration of the Stuarts in 1660.

Evidently the village was a independent-minded bastion of Puritan Presbyterianism.


A walk along Commercial Street, running behind the main shopping precinct, provided a trip down memory lane. 


The small chapel of the Zoar Particular Baptists advertises itself as “Unity Hall – Labour Party.”  The notice in the window urges us not to save our souls, but, as a secular alternative, to Vote Labour. 

Next door is the broad pedimented frontage of the Presbyterian Church Hall. Despite its six grand Corinthian columns, it is no longer totally church, but shared half and half with the Wakefield Tutorial Preparatory School, witness the large coloured-card flowers in the windows.


Up a terraced side-street two small chapels, both in use, face off each other. To the left, the “National Spiritualist Church” -  “Marriages Solemnised, Naming and Funeral Services.” Sunday Divine Service 6.30 pm. Evidently the spirits too like a Sunday lie-in.  

Tuesdays are the big day for necromancy: Healing Service 1 pm. Clairvoyance Service 3 pm. and 7 pm. Healing service 8.15 pm. Maybe you need healing after inhaling the ectoplasm? First and Third Saturdays, an Open Circle. That very Thursday one could for £4 have experienced an “Evening of Clairvoyance and Indian Feather Demonstration with Sue Lowe.”  This chapel used to belong to the Irvingites, the Catholic Apostolic Church. 

One is again reminded of Chesterton: “When men cease to believe in God, they don’t believe in nothing, they believe in anything.”

The spiritualists’ Biblically-condemned practices must be galling to the congregation opposite – the determinedly Scriptural “Morley Church of Christ”: Sunday Worship at 10.45 and Bible Study at 5.30 pm, Ladies’ Bible Study on Mondays at 7.30 and Men’s on Wednesdays. Here you will certainly learn the scriptures, but hardly meet a prospective spouse.  


The Public Library nearby proved helpful. Even in 1826 the Anglican Church had no foothold in Morley. There were 10 Anglicans, 860 Independents, 579 Methodists, 60 “Ranters”, 40 Anabaptists and 1 Catholic, who must have led a lonely existence. By 1900 the town had more than twenty chapels and places of worship, with place for 10,000 worshippers in total.  A local website lists 52 chapels at one time or another. By 1970 the ten Methodist chapels had amalgamated to three.

Moving on past the Martial Arts Centre and Town House Music Disco ensconced in an old mill, one encounters the Baptist Tabernacle of 1877, its formidable façade consisting of a central portico with two towers. It has been converted, but not to Christ: it masquerades as Austin House Flats Nos 12-14 Commercial St. The school alongside is similarly converted, from God to creature comforts.


The neighbouring building avows itself to be the Mercantile Club, yet puzzlingly over the entrance is a stone Jerusalem cross with the motto – “In hoc signo vinces.”  Was it an early Catholic or Anglican chapel?

The sorrowful litany concludes with the Methodist Free Church of 1896, in Romanesque style. Reeds Rains will sell you a converted flat therein  - “Chapel Lofts” - for £118 k.  One block behind, the small Salvation Army Citadel bravely continues to fight the good fight with a “Care and Share Centre.”

Thus within 300 yards on this one street we have a boarded-up URC church, a disused Baptist chapel, a shared Presbyterian church hall, a grand Baptist Tabernacle as flats, another small chapel as a club and a Methodist Free Church as flats. 

This scale of secularisation is alarming. Are we seeing an alienation of Christian buildings on the scale of the Henrician confiscation of the monasteries, but this time of Non-Conformist chapels? Perhaps because in Yorkshire they were fine, stone-built edifices, they have been retained and converted, whilst in other counties they might have been demolished. It is an eloquent commentary on the changing fortunes of Protestant non-Conformity in one of its heartlands, West Yorkshire. 

 In the mill towns of Yorkshire and Lancashire, the chapels were a  powerful influence for social reform, subversively preaching that in the eyes of God, a worker is equal in dignity to an aristocrat. They provided much of the impetus behind the Labour movement and the Trade Union movement. Their demise leaves both of these without a coherent philosophy.

One street doesn’t make a town, so in fairness to Morley, I sought out the operational town centre churches. Not all Yorkshiremen have abandoned the Almighty. Slightly outside the town nucleus is St Paul’s Church of England. Its eastern apse on the main road has few windows. It looks defensive, as if the original occupants feared a wave of Non-Conformity would engulf them. Within, it is spacious and well-kept. All the windows are covered with ugly reinforced plastic sheeting – evidently Morley suffers anti-social behaviour, not from Non-Conformists, but from vandals. 

Close by stands a glorious Primitive Methodist Chapel of 1885 - the most impressive in a town of impressive chapels - with a smaller school of 1878 beside. The school is commercial premises, up for sale. Let angels weep, for the main chapel is again - flats.

Behind the Town Hall, the Central Methodist Church runs a lively parish. Besides Sunday services it offers coffee mornings, Men’s Fellowship and “Together on Tuesdays (Ladies Only)”, Rainbows, Guides and Brownies, Family Walking Club etc.


Stranded in the middle of Morrison’s Car Park, engulfed by a sea of shoppers’ vehicles, sits a modern low-rise building, the Church of the Nazarene (Wesleyan Evangelical). Morrison’s supermarket is evidently the Temple of Morley now, the most-frequented house of consolation.


Ultra Non-Conformity lingers on in the “Calvinist Zion Independent Chapel (Free and Sovereign Grace)”. The notice board gives the flavour: “Refusing to compromise with error, entering even into non-conformity, a group of Christians firstly met for worship in homes, then built a small chapel and land for a burial ground near the top of Churwell Hill c.1795. From thence they moved to this present place in 1852. The Authorised King James Bible is used in services.”  Their low and ugly brick chapel has the inspiring profile of a 4-car garage. 

It took some footslogging to track down St Francis of Assisi Catholic Church on the edge of the town centre, on a cramped site beside a crossroads on busy Corporation St. One guesses it took much sacrifice by poor Irish workers to erect. Collection £640. Mass attendance 303. At least someone still goes to church in Morley!

One’s overall impression is of the confusing plethora of Protestant denominations, and the steep decline of the chapels….

“And whether – if Religion can indeed serve to reveal Truth to mankind – there will ever again come a time when a town like Morley, with a population of 20,000 or so … will think it useful to have so many buildings as to enable 10,000 people to meet together to reflect upon the Truth.” (Norrie Ward, “There’s no place like Morley” 1973)

